1971

Merlin Jackson v. Lothaire R. Rich : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

Statement of Kind of Case

This is an action by plaintiff on an express contract to recover for work and materials furnished on defendant's rental unit in a building owned by defendant in Fillmore, Utah, which the plaintiff occupied as a tenant, and a counterclaim by the defendant for unpaid rent and damage to the premises.

Disposition in Lower Court

The case was tried to a jury, and a verdict against the defendant on plaintiff's complaint in the sum of

\$1,229.00 was rendered, which was offset by the sum of \$490.00 in unpaid rent, with the net sum of \$739.00, from which verdict the defendant appeals.

Relief Sought on Appeal

Reversal of the judgment against the defendant in toto and the awarding of a judgment against the plaintiff in the sum of \$490.00 for unpaid rent, to be offset by the sum of \$179.18 for work done by the plaintiff, on other premises, at defendant's request.

Statement of Facts

This concerns a rental contract between plaintiff and defendant for the north half of a store at about 20 South Main Street in Fillmore, Utah. The plaintiff approached the defendant about the middle or latter part of October in 1968 (T 173-29) and asked if the store was for rent. The defendant told plaintiff that the north half was for rent at \$140.00 per month (T 173-9) Plaintiff stated that he was going to start a home improvement business, and that he was well-qualified in all phases of the building line (T 173-20 & 21), that he intended to put in electrical and plumbing appliances and install them, and was financially able to run such a place of business, and had already purchased supplies and paid cash for them (T 173-18 to 28)

Subsequently it was agreed that the plaintiff would rent the premises for the sum of \$140.00 per month. Since the premises were in need of repair and the plaintiff had represented himself to be well qualified to do any and all repairs required, it was agreed that the plaintiff would repair the building, and that defendant would allow the plaintiff one half of the monthly rental, or \$70.00 per month, as credit for the work done on the premises, said work done to be credited at the rate of \$3.50 per hour (Ex. P-1). The other half of the rent, or \$70.00 per month, was to be paid to the defendant in cash monthly by the plaintiff.

The plaintiff was to have completed the repairs to the building by December 1, 1968, during which time plaintiff could occupy the premises without payment of rent. Plaintiff subsequently was injured, so defendant extended the time for completion of the work until January 1, 1969. Because of the injury of the plaintiff, defendant authorized plaintiff's brother, William, to also work on the premises and have this work credited toward payment of the one half of the rent at the same rate of \$3.50 per hour, but no one else was ever authorized to work on the premises. It was also agreed that defendant would allow the sum of wholesale cost plus 10 per cent for materials furnished. (Ex. P-1) The time for completion of the work was again extended to February 1, 1969. (See letter of Jan. 30, 1969, Ex. P-2 and P-3) and plaintiff agreed to start paying the monthly rental on February 1, 1969. (See plaintiff's Answer to Counterclaim, para. 2, R 10).

Defendant authorized plaintiff to finish some work on other premises (See letter of Jan. 7th, Ex. P-2). Plaintiff did this work, and claimed \$179.18 (Complaint, para. 6, R-2), which defendant stipulated as credit to the plaintiff.

Plaintiff actually had possession of the premises from November 1, 1968, to May 16, 1969 (Ex. P-6) (See defendant's Notice to Quit and Vacate served May 19, 1969. Ex. P-5)

Plaintiff never did pay the \$70.00 cash per month as was agreed, even though defendant made a demand for the same in a letter of April 17, 1969. (Ex. P-4). Plaintiff never offered to pay rent at any time (T 181-3 and T 74 9 to 20), either before or after notice to vacate or pay rent (Ex. P-5). The defendant went to Fillmore for the first time since January, 1969, about June 5, 1969, and saw the condition of the building.

Defendant's letter of September 2, 1969, authorized plaintiff to move all of the equipment out of the building except the back partition, the sheet rock on the middle partition, and the two sheets of plywood in the window. Plaintiff moved out of the premises the 4th or 5th of September, 1969 (T 184-22), and removed everything from the premises, including the rugs in the windows, except those items above mentioned.

The plaintiff sued to recover for all of the work he claims was done on the premises by himself and others, plus the materials, at retail less 10% instead of whole-

sale plus 10%, without any credit for the items which were removed from the premises, even though, by plaintiff's own admission, there was never any agreement for defendant to pay him cash for the work. (T 94-20 to 24) Jury awarded the verdict to the plaintiff, from which the defendant appeals.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THAT THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS PRIOR TO TRIAL ON THE GROUND THAT THERE WAS NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY.

The plaintiff in the complaint alleged an express contract for the defendant to pay plaintiff \$3.50 per hour for services rendered.

In answer to Question No. 3 of defendant's Interrogatories, asking "Is it not also true that defendant never agreed to pay you any money for work done on the portion you were to occupy?" plaintiff answered: "Defendant (obviously an error — should be plaintiff) agreed to pay \$140.00 a month with one half of the rental costs to be credited upon the improvements made by the plaintiff on the building he was renting." (Also see R 22-25 to 27)

Thereby plaintiff admitted he was to take out the cost of improvements by credit at \$70.00 per month.

The defendant made a motion to dismiss the plaintiff's complaint on the grounds that there was no justifiable controversy, as the pleadings and facts show the payment for work done on the rental unit was to be paid by credit on the rent, which effectively refutes the plaintiff's specific allegation for payment (T 4-18 to T 5-15)

At the time this motion was made there was nothing in the record to indicate that the plaintiff was relying on quantum meruit as it hadn't been pleaded, and it was agreed that plaintiff had not paid the rent, and the defendant argued that a person in default had no standing before the court, and at this point there was no controversy. Also (T 5-20-22) he who seeks equity must do equity.

The plaintiff's attorney in his argument brought forth the theory of quantum meruit, but admitted he hadn't pleaded it. (T 6-5 to 12) He never asked to amend his complaint to include an alternative remedy at that time, and stated that he could show damages on specific agreement. (T 5-29, 30 and T 6-29 to T 7-9)

There was no pre-trial order in the file, although the minutes (R-27) show that the order should have been filed, and plaintiff's attorney had been ordered to prepare it (T 7-27 to T 8-6) It should also be pointed out that there was no order in the file setting aside the default of the plaintiff. (Pre-trial Order signed June 29, 1971, and Order setting aside default signed July 1, 1971 (R-29 and R-30.) Defendant submits that he

was entitled to a dismissal based on the file and all the facts, and it was error to proceed further. The motion was taken under advisement, but never ruled on.

POINT II. THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY ON THE EXPRESS CONTRACT, AS PLAINTIFF HAD BREACHED THE CONTRACT AND HAD NO RIGHT TO RECOVER UNDER THE LAW.

On the contract proven as pleaded, the plaintiff was given three months to prepare the premises, then to start paying the rent, \$70.00 by credit on work done at \$3.50 per hour and materials furnished at wholesale cost plus 10%, and \$70.00 cash, commencing on February 1, 1969. The plaintiff breached the contract by failure to complete the work agreed upon, even though given three months free occupancy in which to complete it. In addition to the work that was done, plaintiff was supposed to have put in a restroom (T 47-14, 20), which he never did. Plaintiff also breached the contract as he never paid rent as agreed or even tendered or offered to pay (T 74-9 through 20).

17 Am. Jur. 2d on Contracts, Sec. 355, page 791, states:

An obligation to perform arises upon the making of a binding contract, notwithstanding it is not to be performed until a future date, and the rule is that for a party to recover he must establish his own performance, or his offer and ability to perform, or a valid excuse for his failure to perform.

Cited under the footnote, *Nees v. Weaver*, 222 Wis. 492, 107 A.L.R. 1405.

Performance in the true spirit and meaning of the agreement is expected in the law. Also cited: *Miller v. Young*, 1970 Okla. 503, 172 P.2d 994.

Performance by the obligee or excuse therefore is essential to the right to recover upon the contract having dependent covenants. Cites *Western U. Tel. Co. v. Yopst*, 118 Ind. 248, 20 N.E. 222.

A failure on the part of one party to a contract to comply with its terms destroys his right to enforce it against the other or to derive any statutory rights therefrom. ¶ Sec. 358 of the same volume at 797 on necessity of offer of performance:

The general rule is that where performance of an agreement is to be concurrent on both sides, neither can recover without showing performance or an offer or tender of performance on his part.
...

and cites a number of cases in the footnote.

Sec. 365, page 807 of the same volume states:

As a rule a first party guilty of a substantial or material breach of contract cannot complain if the other party thereafter refuses to perform. He can neither insist on performance by the other party nor maintain an action against the other party for subsequent failure to perform.

In Vol. 17A C.J.S., Contracts, Sec. 566:

Performance or Breach. A party seeking to enforce performance of a contract or to recover for

the breach thereof where the contract contains mutual covenants must not only allege but prove that he has performed his own part. . . . Otherwise he must allege and prove legal excuse for his non-performance. . . . In an action to recover for a breach of contract plaintiff must allege and prove his willingness to perform.

The footnote cites *Roseleaf Corp. v. Radis*, 264 P.2d 964.

Applying the above principles to the instant case, the plaintiff never alleged that he had performed and never proved it. He never alleged he paid or offered to pay the rent, and he admitted that he never completed the work to be done on the contract, and never offered any excuse for failure to complete the work. He never expressed a willingness to perform, and never offered to complete the work or pay the rent and continue in the premises. In fact, under the express contract proven by him and all the law, he had never done anything by which the law could let equity apply, in the form of quantum meruit or other remedy, and allow him a recovery. The instant case clearly shows that the plaintiff expected to get his payment for work done from the \$70.00 per month credit. (See plaintiff's Answer to Interrogatories R 22-19 to 24, also T 94-20 to 24 and T 69-3 through 12). Any recovery would have to be in direct conflict with the terms of the express contract.

POINT III. THE DEFENDANT DID NOT HAVE ADEQUATE TIME TO MEET THE ISSUE OF QUANTUM MERUIT.

The quantum meruit issue was discussed at pre-trial, but the pretrial order was not signed by the Judge until June 29, after the trial was started on the 28th, and was not received by the defendant until 2:45 p.m. on Wednesday, June 30, after the selection of the jury and the day before the trial was to proceed at 9:00 a.m. in Fillmore. The quantum meruit was discussed on June 28 prior to selection of the jury (T 6-6 through 15) but no attempt was made to amend the pleadings at any time to include quantum meruit itself or as an alternative remedy to the express contract.

As is well known, the parties have a right to meet the issues, and in this instance, at the pre-trial, it was ordered by the Judge that a pre-trial order be prepared if the case wasn't settled by the 20th of May, and that thereafter the case would be set for trial. However, the case was set for trial on June 29, without a pre-trial order having been submitted by plaintiff, giving the defendant no opportunity to meet the issues.

Am. Jur. Vol. 41 on Pleading, Sec. 383, states among other things:

There can be no recovery upon a cause of action however meritorious it may be or how satisfactorily proved that is substance variant from that which is made by the plaintiff unless an amendment be made to conform the pleading to the proof of the new cause of action.

The Utah court has held that it is necessary to properly apprise the defendant of the quantum meruit claim. See *Taylor v. E. M. Royle Corp.*, 264 P.2d 279, 1 Utah 2d 175.

Action was brought to recover money allegedly owed plaintiff by defendant for services performed by plaintiff as a manager for defendant. The Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, Joseph E. Nelson, J., entered judgment for plaintiff, and defendant appealed. The Supreme Court held that it was error to charge defendant with liability under quantum meruit, an issue which defendant was never called on to meet.

There was no attempt in the instant case to amend or conform the pleadings to the proof.

The submission to the jury was error on the above ground.

POINT IV. THE SUBMISSION OF THE CASE TO THE JURY ON A QUANTUM MERUIT BASIS WAS ERRONEOUS AS IT WAS NEVER PLEADED BY PLAINTIFF.

The theory of quantum meruit was never pleaded by the plaintiff (T 6-5 to 13) and no amendment was ever offered to conform the pleadings to the record (see whole record.)

Numerous courts hold that where there has been an express contract alleged, there can be no recovery on a quantum meruit. In the instant case the plaintiff alleges an express contract, stating it is both verbal and in writing (T 6-28 to 30) and all the evidence (Ex. P-1 through P-6) clearly indicates such to be the case. The evidence clearly establishes an agreement

by the plaintiff to rent the premises for \$140.00 per month, and other terms as previously set forth. This is clearly an express contract and was argued by plaintiff's counsel to be such.

In support of the theory that there can be no recovery on quantum meruit where an express contract is pleaded, we quote from Vol. 17A C.J.S., Contracts, Sec. 569, page 1095:

a. Allegation of Express, and Proof of Implied, Contract. Generally, a plaintiff cannot, in an action brought on an express or special contract, recover, or introduce evidence, on an implied contract or quantum meruit, unless, under some authorities, he amends his pleadings or fails to establish the express or special contract.

At page 1096 it states:

In an action brought on an express or special contract plaintiff cannot recover on proof of an implied contract or on quantum meruit.

This has a footnote with numerous cases cited from the U. S. Court and twenty-four state courts, from Arizona to Wisconsin.

In the same volume at 1099 it states:

Contract breached by plaintiff. In the absence of an alternative plea on quantum meruit plaintiff who declares on contract which is shown to have been breached by him may not recover on quantum meruit.

In Vol. 35A of *Words and Phrases*, page 413, it sets forth, citing *Wade v. Nelson*, 95 S.W. 956, citing

Hutson v. Tyler, 36 S.W. 654, *McDonnell v. Stevenson*, 77 S.W. 760:

In an action on an express contract alleged to have been performed by the plaintiff there can be no recovery on quantum meruit.

Also in Vol. 8, *Pacific Digest* 2d, Sec. 346 at page 660 on Declaring on an express contract and recovering on quantum meruit, it cites a number of cases, some of which are:

Arizona, *Brown v. Beck*, 202 P.2d 528, 68 Ariz. 139.

Where plaintiff testified that there was a written contract on subject of his employment by defendant, but terms of contract were not established, plaintiff should not have been permitted to recover value of services rendered by him to defendant on quantum meruit theory.

Montana, *Puetz v. Carlson*, 364 P.2d 742, quoting 17 C.J.S. Contracts Sec. 569.

Express contract must be proven as alleged and failure to do so is not merely variance but failure of proof, and recovery may not be had on proof of implied contract.

Montana, *Arrow Agency v. Anderson*, 355 P.2d 929.

As a general rule, recovery cannot be had on quantum meruit under complaint alleging express contract.

New Mexico, *Cavez v. Potter*, 274 P.2d 308, 58 N.M. 662.

One cannot sue on express contract and recover on quantum meruit. Where complaint was for

breach of express contract, alternative prayer for judgment in quantum meruit could not authorize recovery in quantum meruit.

Oklahoma, *Oklahoma Natural Gas Co. v. Herren*, 195 P.2d 278, 200 Okl. 480.

Where petition declares alone on express contract to complete full performance thereof, no recovery can be had on quantum meruit.

Oregon, *Flaherty v. Bookhultz*, 297 P.2d 856, 207 Or. 462.

One cannot sue upon an express contract and recover upon a quantum meruit, and to recover upon a quantum meruit, it must be pleaded and proved.

Utah, *Morris v. Russell*, 236 P.2d 451, 120 Utah 545.

Where both parties to an action to recover for services rendered alleged same express contract, it is improper to submit the case to jury on quantum meruit.

Please note the above case is cited in 26 A.L.R. 2nd 947.

There are some courts that do allow recovery in certain instances, but they are distinguishable from the present case.

So it must be concluded that where a specific contract is pleaded and proven, as in the instant case, the plaintiff cannot recover on quantum meruit, and it was error to submit it to the jury.

POINT V. THE COURT ERRED IN SUBMITTING THE CASE TO THE JURY ON QUANTUM MERUIT AS THE EVIDENCE WAS NOT PREPONDERANT AS TO REASONABLE VALUE OF THE SERVICES.

Quantum meruit, which was introduced without pleadings or amendments offered, we find being defined in *Black's Law Dictionary*, 4th Ed. page 1408, as:

"As much as he deserved." The common count in an action of assumption for work and labor founded on an implied assumption or promise on the part of the defendant to pay the plaintiff as much as he reasonably deserved to have for his labor.

This is supported and is replete with citations from Vol. 35A of *Words and Phrases*, *Quantum Meruit*, page 413, from which we cite *Adams v. Smith*, 307 S.W.2d 525, 527:

"Quantum meruit" means "as much as he has deserved"; and in action on quantum meruit burden is on claimant to plead, prove and have jury instructed that his charges are fair and reasonable.

There was no showing in the present case that the charges were fair and reasonable, but were based on the specific contract. That the correct measure is the benefit conferred on the defendant is shown in the same volume and page, *Bouterie v. Carre*, La. App., 6 So.2d 218:

The amount recoverable on a "quantum meruit" depends upon the extent of the benefit conferred having reference to the contract for the entire

work, and this is usually the contract price *less the damages caused* by not complying with the exact terms of the contract. (Emphasis added)

Nearly all cases cite reasonable value as the amount of recovery, but it must be the reasonable value to the recipient, as in the case also cited on page 416 of 35A *Words and Phrases*. It cites the above case further:

Where a party derives any benefit from services rendered by another, the law reasonably implies a promise to pay on the part of the one who has received such benefit, such amount as it is *reasonably worth*, on the theory of “quantum meruit.” (Emphasis added)

Quantum meruit is based on the theory of unjust enrichment, which Black’s Law Dictionary, page 1705, states under this:

Doctrine that a person shall not be allowed to profit or enrich himself inequitably at another’s expense. *American University v. Forbes*, 88 N.H. 17, 183 Atl. 860.

This is also shown in Vol. 35A of *Words and Phrases*, page 417, under unjust enrichment, in *Ylijarvi v. Brockphaler*, 7 N.W.2d 314, 319, 213 Minn. 385:

The basis of a recovery on a “quantum meruit” is that the defendant has received a benefit from the plaintiff which it is unjust for defendant to retain without paying for.

The test is how much the defendant has been enriched or benefited, and the mere doing of work for another does not justify recovery, as is clearly shown on page

417 of 35A *Words and Phrases in Ylijarvi v. Brockphaler*, supra:

Where a contract for the drilling of a well provided for a 4-inch casing and was not thereafter modified, and contractor, after partial drilling of the well as specified, substituted a 2½-inch casing and after drilling to a further depth, but before completing the well ceased work and removed the 2½-inch casing and the contractor's equipment from the owner's premises and it was not shown that the part performance was of any benefit to the owner, it was not unjust for owner to retain the work performed and materials furnished without paying for them, and contractor could not recover on a "quantum meruit" for contractor's part performance.

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