1972

## Merlin Jackson v. Lothaire R. Rich : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The facts of the within case are simple and uncontroverted, and they are that an oral agreement was entered into between the Plaintiff, (Respondent) and the Defendant, which agreement was described in three letters, from the Defendant (Ex. P-1, 2, 3) and in concise terms was: The plaintiff was engaged by the defendant to do remodeling and repair work on a building which the plaintiff proposed to lease. And also that the plaintiff would do certain repair work on an adjoining portion of the same building which the defendant was leasing to someone else, (Bradshaw Auto Parts). That the defendant agreed with the plaintiff to pay him \$3.50 per hour for the said repair work and remodeling, both in the area to be rented by the plaintiff and in that portion of the building rented to others (Ex. P-1).

The labor supplied to the rental part of the unit at \$3.50 per hour was \$1,093.57 (T 56 - 20). The number of hours per day and the days of the month that the labor was performed was detailed in testimony (T 50 - 19) and (Ex. P-6). The plaintiff furnished materials and supplies used in the remodeling which were also itemized by each invoice number and sales slip from Peterson Machine Co., and which materials and supplies totaled \$708.71 (T63-22) (Ex. P-7). The plaintiff also provided repairs and improvements to unit of the building rented by others, which defendant (appellant) stipulated to be the sum of \$179.16. (T 57-7) That the total amount due the plaintiff from the defendant on the unit to be rented by the plaintiff was and is \$1,093.57 for labor; \$708.71 for materials; and the sum of \$179.16 for improvements to other portion of defendant's building by plaintiff. Accordingly, the defendant owed the plaintiff \$1,980.87 as a result of labor and materials, per their oral agreement, which oral agreement was supported by defendant's written correspondence and other documents. (Ex. P-1, 2, 3, 4, & 5.)

The plaintiff rented the rental unit from the defendant with payments to begin February 1, 1969 (Ex. P-3, Par. 2, line 3) and concluded with eviction and the door being locked on May 19, 1969, while the plaintiff was laid up with injuries. That the agreed rent was \$140.00 per month. The parties agreed that one-half of the monthly rental (\$70.00 per month) would be credited by the repair and improvements made. Defendant was to pay the plaintiff in cash for the repairs and improvements (\$179.16) to the auto parts building and motel unit. The defendant

was to pay plaintiff for materials used at cost plus 10% (708.71). The defendant was billed for such improvements and materials on Mar. 20, 1969, on April 2, 1969, April 6, 1969 and April 9, 1969, none of which was paid by the defendant to the plaintiff (T 61 - line 20-30). Subsequently plaintiff credited the amount due as rental on the building and offset the payment as follows:

Total rental due Defendant	\$490.00
One-half rental due in cash	245.00
Labor on Auto Parts Bldg., & Motel	179.18
Difference due Defendant	65.82
Total materials purchased from Peterson Machine Co. for Defendant's bldg., cost plus 10%	708.71
Balance due in cash on rental to Defendant	65.82
	<hr/>
Net balance due Plaintiff from supplies	\$642.89
Plus Plaintiff's labor on rental unit	1093.57
	<hr/>
	1736.46
Less one-half rental due in work	245.00
	<hr/>
Total amount due Plaintiff	\$1491.46

The plaintiff testified as to the actual hours of work performed and a day by day itemized account of each day of labor was furnished the defendant. At the trial plaintiff presented three expert witnesses ( T 104 - Mr. Frampton, T 114 - Mr. Vernon Peterson, T 133 - Mr. Brooks Anderson), which was corroboration of the work performed

as shown under plaintiff's Exhibit 6. Supplies including invoice numbers from Peterson's Machine Company were contained on Exhibit P-7 and corroborated by testimony of Lowell Peterson (T 108).

## JURY VERDICT

The jury rendered verdict in the sum of \$1,229.00 for repairs, improvements and remodeling performed by the plaintiff at the instance and request of the defendant, and offset the payment by the sum of \$490.00 for rent due and unpaid, with a net verdict of \$739.00. Evidence justified the jury crediting Defendant for \$58, because of invoice error of \$58, instead of \$.58, and also crediting defendant for a counter and rug removed from the premises at defendant's request.

There was ample and conclusive testimony to support the verdict of the jury. The testimony of the three expert witnesses, Mr. Peterson, Mr. Anderson and Mr. Frampton, was not to change the theory from damages due on an oral contract to quantum meruit, but was supporting testimony that the services and the materials had in fact been furnished, which repairs and which materials and supplies the witnesses observed and examined.

## A R G U M E N T

### POINT I.

THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO ESTABLISH AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN PLAINTIFF and DEFENDANT.

Ex. "P" 1, a letter from defendant to the plaintiff refers to an oral agreement in which the defendant states "This will be perfectly satisfactory with me". P.S. "verifying \$3.50 per hour for labor and wholesale plus 10% for materials." Ex. "P" 2. Letter dated Jan. 27, 1969, from the defendant, is quoted as follows: "I had been waiting for some weeks, as I told your wife the last time I was up that I was agreeable to the time and materials suggestion, providing you would tell me what it was. *You have now told me and we understand each other*". As I stated, I am perfectly willing to go ahead on that basis. I note you have pretty well put the back on the portion to the middle. We need to put in a partition in the front window which you started. I suggest you complete it, also put in a partition above the window by the ceiling and the top of the window. I need to have the rest of the partition on the south finished including hanging the door. I would be glad to pay you the \$3.50 per hour if you will finish up the job." Further quoting paragraph 3, "I suggest that you take the rest of the month to do the job and let the rent start on the 1st of February." Quoting from paragraph 5, "incidentally, besides finishing the partition, I need to have the rest of the wall on the inside perfa-taped as well as that which is put in the window. I will be glad to pay you for that if you will finish it up as I have been somewhat under the weather and it has been almost impossible for me to get this finished."

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 4 further confirms the agreement and acknowledges invoices for materials and supplies in the sum of \$142.00.

Paragraph No. 5 of Exhibit No. 4, written April 17, 1969, is quoted, for the purpose of showing that the agreement between the parties had continued with work and labor being performed and supplies being furnished by the Plaintiff to April of 1969. Quoting from Par. 5, defendant states, "I have been very short this year due to the fact that rentals for me were very bad last year, although it is working out fine now. But we must get on a basis where we can bill it once a month and I should have a full and total itemized bill for your work that you are claiming credit on, and of course I will give you credit on the work in other rooms such as 5, 13, etc."

Paragraph 6 acknowledges receipt of invoices dated Mar. 1969. It is quoted as follows: "I note that the invoice dated Mar. 1969 is a general bill and if this is a full bill then of course I am satisfied, if you are. In any event, let's get it straightened out right away so I will know where you are going."

Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 6 is a day by day itemization delivered to the defendant by the plaintiff of hours work by plaintiff on defendant's building, detailing the number of hours per day and by whom the work was performed. The total labor includes 369 hours for a total amount of \$1272.75. Materials and supplies are itemized by invoices and included on Plaintiff's Ex. No. 7. Each invoice from Peterson's Machine Company was examined by the defendant. The plaintiff testified that each item was used

in the repair and improvement of the defendant's premises and none was used elsewhere.

The above referred to communication between Plaintiff and Defendant shows complete meeting of the minds of the parties, constituting a valid contractual agreement.

The primary test as to the actual character of a contract according to authorities and as is cited in Am Jur 2d,

Vol. 17, pg. 333, is quoted as follows:

The primary test as to the actual character of a contract is the intention of the parties, to be gathered from the whole scope and effect of the language used, and mere verbal formulas, if inconsistent with the real intention, are to be disregarded. It does not matter what name the parties chose to designate it. But the existence of a contract, the meeting of the minds, the intention to assume an obligation, and the understanding are to be determined in case of doubt not alone from the words used, but also the situation, acts, and conduct of the parties, and the attendant circumstances.

Quoting further from Am Jur 2d Vol. 17, pg. 334-335, the following language is helpful in determining that an agreement existed between the parties.

Contracts are said to be either express, implied, or constructive. Contracts are express when their terms are stated by the parties, and they are often said to be implied when their terms are not so stated. Thus, an implied contract is one inferred from

the conduct of the parties, though not expressed in words.

Contracts may be implied either in law or in fact. Contracts implied in fact are inferred from the facts and circumstances of the case, and are not formally or explicitly stated in words. It is often said that the only difference between an express contract and a contract implied in fact is that in the former the parties arrive at their agreement by words, whether oral or written, while in the latter their agreement is arrived at by a consideration of their acts and conduct, and that in both of these cases there is, in fact, a contract existing between the parties, the only difference being in the character of evidence necessary to establish it. In other words, in an express contract all the terms and conditions are expressed between the parties, while in an implied contract some one or more of the terms and conditions are implied from the conduct of the parties.

The source of the obligation of express contracts and contracts implied in fact is the manifested intention of the parties. An implied contract between two parties is raised only when the facts are such that an intent may fairly be inferred on their part to make such a contract. All the pertinent circumstances must be taken into consideration.

According to authorities, an Agreement by conduct is just as binding as one made by words. *Ahern vs. South Buffalo Railroad Company*, 344 US 367.

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah has likewise held that the interpretation of an oral agreement is ascer-

tained by the meaning given to the words and manifestation of the parties in determining their intent. *Fuhriman Inc., vs. Jarrell* 445 Pac. 2d 136. In the *Fuhriman* case an oral agreement was had between the parties involving rent on a home occupied by defendant, while builder was constructing defendant's home. The Supreme Court upheld the interpretation of the trial court, stating "that it is a duty of the trial court to determine the meaning to be given words and intention of the parties."

In the instant case, there was adequate evidence and testimony to establish the intention of the parties and to justify the jury and their award for damages based upon the agreement of the parties. The figures on one invoice had been transposed and the change of \$58.00 to \$.58 was properly altered by the jury. The jury also credited defendant with a counter and rug plaintiff removed at defendant's request.

In determining the issues involved the Supreme Court has the duty to review the evidence in light most favorable to the trial court's findings. *Lynch vs. McDonald* 367 Pac. 2d, 464. *Weenig vs. Manning* 262 Pac. 2d 491. *Parrish vs. Tahtaras* 318 Pac. 2d, 642. In quoting from *Lynch vs. McDonald* *Supra*,

"While some of the testimony is admittedly in conflict and not in complete harmony with testimony given in companion case, we find there is ample competent, substantial, clear and convincing evidence to support the facts therein."

And the same is applicable to the instant case. There is

ample competent, substantial, clear and convincing evidence to support the verdict of the trial jury and the judgment of the Court and neither, under the circumstances, should be disturbed.

## RESPONDENT'S POINT II.

### WAS DEFENDANT ABSOLVED FROM PAYING BECAUSE OF QUALITY OF THE WORK?

The contract between the Plaintiff and Defendant was not breached by the Plaintiff. Even if some of the labor performed at the express request of the defendant, (Exs. 1, 2, and 3); and if some small repair item was not completed in the manner in which the defendant or his son or son-in-law would have completed it does not tend to breach the contract. So far as plaintiff could determine, the repairs, the labor and supplies furnished to the portion of the premises not leased by the plaintiff (Bradshaw Auto Parts and Motel room units) were completed as requested by defendant, and he acknowledges by stipulation (T 57-7) an amount owing of \$179.18 for said repairs. The repairs in the portion of the building being leased by plaintiff were to make it tenantable for the plaintiff. Plaintiff testified that when he first discussed the proposed lease with the defendant, TR 32 line 4, that the building was loaded with junk, cans, lumber that had been torn out from the west end of the building where there had been a second floor, that there had been water damages through the ceiling to the Motel; that the floor was black in color from previous

waxing and stains; that partitions were required. All of these things were done as evidenced by Exhibits 6 & 7, and hours of work performed and invoices of materials furnished, to satisfy the tenant (plaintiff). Under such circumstance, Plaintiff could not have breached the contract and the payment for rent, which was due monthly, one-half in cash and one-half in labor was tendered when Plaintiff sent defendant voucher, for material and supplies purchased for his building and credited the repairs on the non-rental unit with the materials and supplies to the defendant. The defendant was requested to acknowledge and credit the plaintiff in his rent with the items above mentioned. Plaintiff had expended in labor and materials and supplies for the defendant's building in excess of \$1980.87, and had received approximately three months rent. Plaintiff was not in default and the jury were justified in determining as they did in their verdict, that the rent was a proper off-set against supplies and materials purchased for the building in the sum of \$708.71 and in repairs to both leased and non-leased portion of the building.

### POINT NO. III.

#### REPLY TO APPELLANT'S QUANTUM MERUIT

The defendant spends considerable time in his brief discussing the submission of the case to the jury on quantum meruit. Plaintiff submits that the case was submitted to the jury on express and implied contract clearly established by the evidence with itemized evidence to justify the jury in their award, with the help of three expert witnesses who helped to establish that work had in fact been

done; the supplies and materials had in fact been furnished and the value was in direct proportion to the itemized billing submitted to the defendant by the plaintiff.

Respondent represents that the instructions of the Court No. 15, to which the defendant objects, to-wit: "If you should further find that the plaintiff provided labor and materials in remodeling and renovating defendant's business in an amount equal to or in excess of the rent required, then you may find that the plaintiff was not in default and would be entitled to require the performance of the defendant under the terms of the agreement", is a correct statement of the law. The jury could well find from the clear and convincing testimony in the case that defendant did owe for the labor and materials furnished and from the evidence were justified in making an adjustment as they found from the evidence in offsetting the amount of plaintiff's award by correcting the transposition of figures on the invoice from \$58.00 to \$.58 (T 241-27) and were further justified by allowing defendant credit for some property removed from the building by the plaintiff at the instance of the defendant, if they in fact found that it was a proper item to be deducted from plaintiff's award. Hence the verdict of \$1,229.00 for total repairs and improvements (rather than \$1,491.00 requested by the plaintiff) less \$490.00 for rent, for a net verdict of \$739.00.

Defendant in his brief excepts to the Court's instructions Nos. 16 & 29. The Court's instruction No. 16 is a correct statement of the law and the near identical quote is

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